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MR. MOORE: 1If yosur EHon:

4

As A A

that » certain me‘ter sheunld
'*tcrfﬁy desires fc;

'l think I should preserve
*hough whether t*:*e-is any

I aw uncertein, se to the am

THE CQURT: Well, astatet

M3, MOOPE: T cbjeot to the smendment —--

TEY CNURT: Norie hesas hsor

’

Re MOOERr Then I:.agk the

trial only for petty larceny

THE OCUPT: Well. state +he
rs ii- 8 e t]

e VOAOTTE » T™a Sr4nmntray
. B Lo 4 i ; U1

P S 4
P £ 3 - - ~
réegulsyr ir boh cOmplies

Code ¢f Criminel Procedure, in that i+ Cfftee,’first, the
herge, and thern the eet constitutine the charge, but it
~in;1§ stnt that 1% 1» 'rfff lsrceny, without mentioning -
ny degree, but it etates enly *het the amount invelved is

- pundred decllars, whigt uld .indicate, perhaps, that it
+8 grand larceny, in the gsecond degree. -
n I ask new %0} 1% detzrmined whether we are of trisl 8
petty lesroeny or gr lasrceny in t} eecrond degres.

Ry PONOHUF: It-is merely » clerical error, if your Honor:

‘ ' ! i
pleses, ard 1 ask thet 4) ord "seoond® be irserted bffCrQAt:?
erd "degree®, WYe a3k te have the fireg.c5unf szended by ine
‘arting the word "seoond®, slthough we will rely, I think, en"ﬂ.;

v 3
plecce, at this ¢time I think

he corregted, if the Platrict

the righte of the defendant, ale

virtue in the objection or not,

endment: ¢f the indictment.

ectior or +the record?

he A%
g 238

..

grounde for the recerd.

t iteelf constitutes ——- it 18
ith the requiremsesntes of the




the seonond ccunt, dbut I will ros ac snnounce, st t:
: Ll

more rre i . s . ;
COURT: Well, in thie cane,. the gcharge in thie indiste

ment ie thet Marian L. LaTouche 18 guilty of grend 1qrcény in
tke blank degres, submitted as follows; =nd the indictment

+the ~ Aane A - . st Pa . . v
hen proceeds e forth thra%, on the Bth day of July,

ed ytates, and & written irstrument,
nrmely, & bank check, the property of Anna X. Fitzgersld.
saicn 18 evidently s

that the indioctment sete forth

-

the properdy stclen, from whish it is evidenced that it must

o
4]
S |
4
.
.

lgroeny in t? aegon? ifrr'e, I will grernt the

- -e
I - v o~ - &% 2 * N . 3
3 2a P . o S o = -~
hi e feond can te esurprised or
tivdised by B enendpert ot +hia b ima 3 T

: Yy &an ndmernt nie time, and, therefore, I

2.9 o ¢ +Y L2 - 3 2 ‘
11 grart motio; canend, and the defendant may hsve an
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BY D, DONOHUT:

Q - Have yru thet sdvertisement with yout A No, sir

Q@ Well, anyway, what 414 you 4o after you read the s dvertists

ment? A I answered i1t under the initiels it was esdvertised in,

A~y A
i

nd.received a letter on July 5%h, zeking me to cszll.

MF, DONOHUE:® I ack $0o have this paper nme rked for

vL‘lJ

identification, at thies time, 1f your FHoncor plesse,

(Marred People's Txhitit 1 for iden*ification.)

Q0 I arew vou People's Fxhihit 1 for identificetion. Did you

aver gee thet tefore? A Y

®

Q@ Did you have that in ycur pogeesgion the first time that °

0 VWhere 4id you m et rer, the first time? A In the office of
1947 Brosdray. ;

Q In whoee office? A The office of W, A, MacDorald.

144 yeu have any te2lk with her there? A I talked with

Q Fow, talk slower ani louder, No one can understand yous

b =
N
halt
ct
o
-
en
"
m
-
o
-4
+
T
.
@
L2
y
2
)
<
<
b

penine an office uptown in the brokenss
‘e business, and, #8 I had no experience ir brokersge, 1 told Repy

not think I weuld consider it 2+t the time, And then

-~ ’ SRl 2k § . 4 o w4 ! o ~ 2 . | L3 - PR
s} \r:‘\Q{ up the .subiect cf Colerado Fuel, and esaid that it

?V b # b4 ﬂh"'f‘T‘:

ow, one momert before.geatting to trat, ¥het kind ef an
~office wns this?AA brokerage office,

) - . 11 A W% oy - . ¥ " v p» 4w :
.i}‘ € (] r,‘A‘? e ?} .‘T‘: wWae g0 LY »t( i".




&nd seld that she wanted a lady to go intc 1%, in a eysll way.

BY ¥MP, NONOHUFE:
Q No. The Court ssted you atout

in, What 414 '&If tell you

¥R. MOOPF: I think she shoy
TP COURT: No.

RY THF OOIRMT.

2o

0 Degeribe the office?r It wes

I

tittle private office besides, =2nd sh

BY MR, DONOHUF:

Q Whet was irn the lerge office?

Q Well, there were some chalk
Q' And, e8 yco went in, where 4

e £ o T %4 —~ . ~ o~ 1 =
2 telkine to = wowsn, about the mi

~n And 4id ehs L-ve on a hat that +ime? A I don't thixﬁﬁ egle
ad; that. day, L : “‘
Q And, as yo nt ir, 414 you nctice vhat she wae doing?.
A Yes, she wees ptending talkirg to ancther women.
i
Q Whereld Atout tre middle of tre floor of €he large room.
O And what 214 you ssy to her, and vhat 414 she way to YOu.Tlt

thet time? A I shewed her the “letger

- ]

1 for identificetio ,)dsted July S5t}

Let her ansWwer my questione

There wes & large ¢ffice ard a private office.

marks® A Yes, eir,

iy lrlf‘.

K

the ~ffice that you met her

ocffice?

D -
14 tell her ot

Q

ry firsts

e regulsr office, and had a

D

took me into 4the private

, {
A I believe, a desk, and a

and the ticker.

4l VAiT Vo

w28 & man ir there.

e
".
H
e
b 4
-
(¢
L
ct

The Code == the

ad 'S ~ A

id you see Mres, LaTouche? AShe

Adle of the floor. o—

(irdiostirg People's Txhibit
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~ ’r.{ vrnpt 114 _.‘\:. ~ oy "i“‘" p——

renge to the letter? A And

' she cald she wes coneidering openirg an office, upto®n.

Q. Vell, whet 412 ghe say sbout this letter? (No arswar)

»

PY TUT SATIRm,
- .

\\) troduced myesl f ea-
| .

R, HOORE: Le+ pe a¢

ia

-

»
(=
.

Perhaps we mey =24mit $t. Yes,

it 1s adnritted f%1§ that 18 in ths hendewriting of the defanis
ant.
MR, DONOHUE: Then I nffer i+ in eviderce nowy by oeneent,
; eir.
TET COUPT: It 1s admitted that it is her bardwriting?
Yo, ..(.,\,.,..: 17‘3,;’ y W v-vl-_r' {
(It is admit*ed sr? merked People's Tahibit 1 ir cviience.)
. SRS T |
{Ur. Porohue resde the exhitit te the jury.) L 3
2 You hed People's Txhiltit 1 when you went over to see Mrs.
LaTouche?A Yee, eir. i
?  And whe T "ound ker in this big room?
Vy - sty ’ Tl
0. How tell the rt erd jury just what talk you hsd with
r at thet time? A After she Adismiesssd f?'4“‘h*é wﬁmin, she took
e } n ot rivate offioce, and told me that, on or nkh:fA°epiembf:
‘7,. s

YR, MCCPF: I objeot to her charsoterisging it ng 2 privat
>ffice, 1f the Court plesse, Bhe hne dnsoribed it as ar ofs
fice off the nmeir room. 1

THE QOURT: ¥Well

o 1 think that 18 a matter of desoription




net a concluesior-of faok. :
e MOOPES Then, 28 & ma*ter of le=oription, I 4on't obe
.
jeot to 1,
RY ¥R, NOYORDPE:

0o on? . A AnA ehe t614 ne that, 2bout the first of
“eptem®er, -she irtender to open on office, uptown, in the brokere
are business, and wanted a women thet could invest some copital
to gc with her, ' .

And she e2id that, at that time, ¥r. MaoDonald would give hef-
private tickere «-- tha+ i3, tickere without cost, -- would allew
them t6 her without cost, Lecouse che he! been working for him for
nire years,

At tha® time #he 8nid thet dhe 414n't krow me vell snough, and
1 218n't krow her well snouch, to fo irto pertnership with; and,
until o further day, if I would inveet in Colerado Nuel, éhe knew.
a) ,,(\:‘4 r—}:: we |aome "f‘"‘j’.

And I told her, 1f she thought it wae a good tuy, to g0 ahesd
and buy, through MecPorald, aseshe gaid she Wse working for him,
rd I would come ir, loter in the week, with the cheok, snd pay
for s .

0 G0 ¢ 1, Wiee Titzgersld? A She said that the

8 2 very bad sesson to in tuelness, ir th 2 brokers
141 g8 YTotter for her ¢ '8y where ghe m8, &8 ahe
r'o & xpense, 'I g g rkir for Np. daclDonalad, ur.t'il Fall, L)

Atd . then 1 left anr, with the underetending theat she was to
g0 shead rn4 buy the Coloraie FPuel for me, on margin. ;

And ther I cot a letter on T"riday —-= I thirnk it was the. b -
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dollerss

Q

Now, between your second visit =2nd your firet vieit, 414

you receive Psople's Fxhihit 2T A 1 414, yes.

¥R, DONOHTE: Mey I read that to the jury now, sir?

THE COU'RPT: Certainly.
(¥r, Donohue reade the axhihit tc the jurye.)
" fo, wher you went back to Mree LaTouche, you had this

letter with you? 4 I think I 414« I had the check with me, anyways

0 And 414 you nt that time show

G »
her that paper (indicating)?

ou gFave her -that, 414 vyou? A Yeg

§. & ;3 Bire

¥R. DONOHUFE: I offer that ir esvidence, and it 1s consented

e~ 2L wrr1vew Traveam mYleoace
‘s - & »
My MATT D e o i ™ 1
SOURT: . Very 11. ceived.

—~~
—
ct
pde
0

admit+ted ar? marked People's Txhibit 3,)

Q@ And 414 you give her Beople's Fxhibit 31 A Yep, sivs
N Ar? wag it *then ir the same condition that 1t is now?

The front part of 1t? A Thy, I believe 1t wae, as far as I renon

. \

0 An? +¥e Pack?? I sndcrsed bhat. Tre back wee the same, with

out her endorsement. 1 endorsed 1t to her,
(Mr, Denchus rends the exhibit to the jury.)
And 414 you, in her rresence, sign this cheok, on the
» » '
bank? A Yes.,
Q@ Andd1id vev put on it, "Pay to the order of ¥. L. LaTouchs

A v



11

Q And 414 rcuzéunfnr that writing, elpgn your name™ I 4ids
QR Arnd iii ehe ﬁiv%;y" thie paper, at thet time (irdicatirg »
parer)? A Yee, sir. ’

.

MP, DONOHUE: I offer thet in evidence, if your Honey

plesae by @onaent.
(It is received.)
(Marked Pecople's Mxhibit 4.)

(¥r., Donchue readd +the exhitis +a +he jury.)

@ At the time that she geve you this receip®, di vyo u have

[ <y Pt | - - & % w - . ~ B N -
ny telke with her? A ert to Childs' to lunch, =2nd ocame bagk
-
-~ Y o K b o 1. T ™ - : 2 v " 2
g cfficey, and just talked about Colersde Fuel, she saving thas
- ~ . f“a w - P A B - w - < .- . -
thought 1 o advarice, prebatl n sixty, and that,
in some yoars, 1t had not been le then thirty-eight.
™ee 3 e =19 b o - -~ =~ - - ~
# 12 = tell you %t ' to> huy Colersde
30 1 av A Tr» g ok "‘_" QM #2143 ‘}' o q\‘a YaA Olteg-{:, | ‘Vt
i.. o - -+ 4 % . - v
d i " - -
- - N > Y1y - ~ .
n NiA orize uy eny o*ther stock, except
~ - . i e - - R « Y o e 1+ i 7 R -
O.‘: o L"rf? t - ¢ ias -~
el Al
A Taa = = 3 3 1 i AP e T A v - S o %
{ r o ht it? o anewey)
5 ur arT™ NOAYALITIT .
.
T 11 & " - =) - i+ AT & ;
i A ¥ II - ho o s - T ' AA‘?F‘\, ~h &
Y
-~ " A
- E
~
Pi4 she 2ay a0 in. ae ny wcris? A She seid that she had
¥ \
) -~ - M ™ 3 14 4 % . » .
z iy i#} a0 r‘*. -\ra ‘,Riv =8 \-!- u \ ?1,1‘. or.1 'n‘
~ - T - “ X %
¢ £0 buy ¢ oloredo Musl thye him .
R . w A a1 - - 2 P T s, | 4
~ Ay A 24 4 + " 5 1 i | C-. * ‘t
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)

through ¥ascDonald & Compeny? A She Aidn't aay that she had boupgh®

1+ through MacDonald, hut wrote a letter that she 4id buy 1t.

-

@ Did you bhsve any further talk with hér on that 4Aay? A Ko,

o

Q Did you have any +elk with har op other visite? A She inw.

vited me t0 g0 t0 Maywooqd %o sae her

€ » On Sundey afternoon, dut it
iag more 6f 5 aoniel oc2ll.

0 "her was that? What Sunday?A I think it @fs twe weeke
S At o

Q And 434 you +alk adout Coelorado Fuel at that time?A Ehe
fpc“ very l1ittle abomt 1%, eavirrs that she knew 1t would advenos,

A

ard she expected to0 irveat money in Crucible Stesl; »nd she wrote

tn e +Fret Crvunitlie f+oa ﬂcgkpa Cﬂa.

N AnA 314 ghe tell yon to irvest in Crucidble Bteell? A Well,

ek gnit that e} thought s} we.s ing to make 2 cood 422) of
money on Crucitle Steel, an’ she wrote me a letter ther -- I
Aon't remerber the dete -~ peking me 1f Iwanted to g0 in o0 &
poel ir Crucible fleel.

Q Now, wher wae the next time after thia Sundey that you

eow tris defendent?™A I 4or't think I ever saw her after $hat

Q And 414 you =ver regeive any moneys from her after tbat?
A 1 never received any money at sll.
you ever roceive any commissions or premiume?i Yothings
‘Any wmoney whatecevar?h o, sir. No acney of any kini.
And whon was the next stime that you saw d?t after that?
Al 2on' think I aver caw her after that Sunday that I was ous

at Meywood.
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Q Now, what other sfforts 4id you make to locate her? A I

o

went 0 her home several timse, but never found her there.

: Q Absut how many times would you say you went to her homa?

A Proberly four timese.

o An3 what sl

o

did you 4o after thas? A I went to MacDon

~1i{§fs’fice, and inquired if shs hed boupht Colorado Fuel from

m2 on that day, and Iwas $0ld --
(Objected to. Sustaineds)

Tow. A4

Now, 4i3 you make = complaint 4o *he Police Departuent?

A Yes, airs

fhen? A I think it was some t4ke in Auguset, 1918

~ Trm
COURT:

2 ¥You say that.you never zot any money or. dividénds from

@ Did you sver get any stock? A No, sir.

N
O W o

i0u never got any stock frowm MacDonald's office or from

hertA Yo, sir, \

Yy m v\f\'g.v‘f\vavw-

.

<

u 2uthorize her to keep this two hundred decllare for

(Re KOTTRE:. I obg ot %0 that as alresaly asked and .
snewsir2df she has beén all over that.
THE COURT: Y224 Objecticon suatasined.

rYy W 3ll. 2hi 1 - ur « 1_‘.,_r,',~93 .




- . A ™ ™Yy (2]
CROSS TXAMINATIO ",

into the par

.
v

i
MOOTE:

Q When you first saw this woman, sh: proposed %5 you a partner
ship ! formed in the Tall; 414 she no*? A Around tha first of
S ep ber.

Q .And after that 4issussion hail S2en mals —-- or, first, ydu
told hsar your business, 414 u not? A I ghowed her the 1’tter;

? Or, at least, you %014 her you wers a stenographsr and

. bookkeepsr? A V~e,’=ir.

0.  Aad then you re 0 g0 intc partn:rship tueinzss with

her 4 12 brokrrage business in “eptembar? A Yee, sir,.
»
Q. And after that plan wse unfolded, vou 4id not

tnorship? A wo, I 8-44

0 Well, you 3aid you mould ta
A Vag 5 11‘:.
0 And = 14 ly 8180, that
r & number of ysars; didn't she?
apl o f MacDonald, for nin "arse
N Did sl a7 t o} be
®h~ s&ild that sh 3 W :L;L for
Q Th al bsen working ¢
st A Yes, eir,
Q And her work for them, sh
roouring of customers to deal in
ot words,
0w i1, th: ) ubeatance
been working for MscDonsl i, fer n

3 waen 't 1t A T™at sha had

15

want fo go

I uld consider it.
k> 1% into nsonaideration?
ahe hed been den2linz in stook
A That she hei been in the
..
en in tas zmploy of MagDonald?
IA lAL L
cr thea for upwaris of nine
wae ln the

:’.';ii, 1idn't 3h§,

-

ccke?A I don't remember those

Vanay W 4
J ~-‘3, 85

said.
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reouring olients? A I 4don't

“ . - A " %
asin 7ord "olisnte"™? A I belisve
in one of my latters.
3 8 1 2 .
ar that sh Add theat, at that

. 8on 7 her experisnce, of nine
;u*:'ly ¢ a g00d tip? ‘A Inone of
‘ . day.
re Lasra, thore was talk betws
Y “p 20OUT YOur investinge in
irg. MacDonalil.
\ Yeej about irnvesting in Colorade
l 11 inveet wep discussed that
dunired 1ollars, te¢ i a® partnsre
het re £ buy S § T
» - niy o 38
' buylng en margin, the stook isn't
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¢ Youunderstool thatlA Ves. !
0 And, =28 you undierstood, that was s penpoint margin?

2 Thie letter which she wrote you, and which you received
shortly after that, edvised yocu that she had purchased the stook,

1t 43/}/37 A Yes, and s0ld it 2t 44, she said in the lettery late
Q No, at firet,. she ‘advised you that she had bought it at
A3 1/31 A Yese
0 And you know something =bout thes steck Jquotations? You saw
them in the newspapsar, did you nottA Yea, X
N And 414 vou look at the paper t0 sce whether that stook
gold 2t 42 1/3 on that day? A On that day that she bought it, I
believe it did. I believe I saw it in the paper, thatnight,
n  Then yo ~nt back there on the 7+h, which wae Saturday?
A The 8th was faturday. The 7th wes Fridagye.
N Vo V ~ “ W &t ~ =¥ - D4 ™ o b P +ha \
Ce u ¥ bac) e T 6| ‘he The dzte © e
eck? A Yes, sir,
" An im received Txhibit 4, being a receipt; di
you not® A Yee,
g it in thes ame sh then as 1t i3 now? A I think 30.
0. - Did notice where that ¢ from? A 1947 Broadway.
ell, but 4i a notice where the piece of paper can.'/?J
’ I :
i Eat ,
A Out of onea of the denks.
!
£l >t it from o 2ak? A Yeég,
And 4i4n't she cut off t
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preesnod? A She might have cut 1t off, bu* not all of it.

Q Now, look =2t it end see if vou don't recell that shs out

O

Ff that letterhead?

Y R "OTAITIIT.

. dUET Idbjeot %o the question, unlese it

G.Di3 you s2e her out anything off ¢ top of the peper? :
t She tore part of it off; I eaw her take a sheet out of a drawes,
?nf tsar some Oof the pepsr off. 4

Ank 4 r'*, 'llc\f T\T':

O But thers was sousthing detached from this picoe of paper;
in your pressnoce?s chs tors a piece of paper there, ani then wrote

Q@ This office thst yo re in, }£~L;“ *he maln office of
] § _
facDonald Cowpany; wasa 1t? A "She t0ld m2 the main office wes at
09 g W Q } od at /
0 3 rned % that was so; 4idn't youtd She tol8
i
5
30
~ P, e e > .
4 1idn 't i kno is branch office of 1947

Q

-
"

L

<
e |
>
>
3
;
s
-
w

branch office agnin after

L8

Wher? A I think it 8 scme time in Aupuet., &\\5.
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. % S AP » .
Q And you never sent to this branch ~ffi00 aftar August, 1918
Al cen't say thate, I don't remeater *he axaot dates.
’ -
Q Well, you osused the srr+at of thies fefeniant, 4114 you nosy
'l -s.,‘ - rey -~ - ‘1. 1:12 R : % ud .o o ,f»rm t" - Juw.
0 That was eom* monthes «70j wee it not? A oome time in July
of thi 'y 1 belilove,
0 Anid u Lt befors She jury then, and told your story?
A b P 4 -
» - L. -
1 ]
"~ Vs - v Y . 49 - 4 - . 'R ' .
BU 2R $ ° 18 in Jall ¢ ime; A1idn't you?
. v g . ’
iy 2.
nY - -— ~ —T‘
; T
. 9 : A
De yeu n the Orand Jury? ! g,2ir, 1 think it was.
i S
» 3 .
D PWow, when you geve her the two hunirsd dollars, wee Shegs
nes iittle mor i1 than ths invostaznt »f it in Coleorads Mamld
nd Iron? A4 Yot thing. 1 3 to wetoh * newgpaper for Coleorade
Iron a: usl,
2 " ] . - S ¢ Yayy 4
An idn'%t ehe $ 8 -buying 1% for nunter of
14 : ‘ > 13ineag forlAchs eni4d she w2s buying
= o al e -~ -.
11,44 that o s buyirg for olients, and
nois sone them?h M id @ pould ke me so@m® @monsy.
. \ . v n - o & 2
» Ly usir udgmal in investwsnte? A She was only
~ N'r - "”" -
.n a4 ‘l‘ 2t g:t ~A*J" s ME &
W e P . . . & TR T ‘
i©« Did she ony thia, that, 1if ifutz.irﬁ upon her judgment,
3 ~ o )
- - g - - A b B o -
srd let ki zee her ‘Judzaent in duying, that ebe would meke




-
-

(3

[

m

| 5

-
~
'ri r
/ id
i 4 &
- A
~
]
~
-
ad v
:
~
wlr 4
- & 4

-

"

5

v -
.
b
.
.
o

s
@

O

-

o

3

e

-3

'S 2

-

4 A
.
r ™
b A
P

- o -
n't kr t
& . =
hing? 1In
- % ¢ 5 Y L 4
o S 'f.? A A
~
.

YT a™an. 4 “ s
PR 8 -eﬁ‘»‘:“ v Va4
e .
1ied upon 4

X AV
ecul | -
~ s -
i 4B 4
o in r
I 2y na
1 ? 19 a B &
Y 3 . 1§
.y 1 .
. b .
& -~ &
|
- “l
- * 4 -

.43 & %A LA
W 41 I N ');
ful ’ n
v » ¥y ¥ » @

o |
s ) ’
" L) TR ¥

v
-
v
i
A}

:‘ ~ -~ ‘A
rire
bag 8 &
& o

- » y
- 1~
w o dn
B

v e

8 v &
g - :
& v

-~

you knew

» F,?l —_—
ar thon
the market
uel wmap W
R * ewWs
a resl or

r
s

o

fictiticus

"_L.LDZ “b"ut

ue, only
..-’ t....'f..'.o."

— L S

‘f ’%’t - v
it inveate
vy & 3 - 4
AV ".‘:'.g.

30




through

v

her judgment? A I don't remember those

I

through her judgment™.

Well, you wouldn't eay that she d4i4n't say that?A I

vouldn't say *that she 414 or 4idn't.

Q Now, whjn wee the first time that you went to this
place in J?rsey, to see her? A Oh, a8 late asg 191%. .

O.And you knew then &hat she 4i4An't live thera?A Th9.man who
was living there said -~

n 1 4idn't ask you =bout thate. You knew tha+ she wasn't live
i:!‘tkrrj idn't you? A I 4i4n't know. I suppcsed it was her home,

Q PNow, you supposed it was her home? A'V?= 3iTe

A Put you 4idn't find her thara? A No, sir.

0 4And you 414n't see her again until zfter ehes was arrcsted?
p No. 7%
REDIRECT EXAf INATION BY. ¥R, ?P“OHU"‘ i

7 Had you been 4¢ her home at any time b2fore thst, be;;;bd
the firss visit you made thers, after you could not find her?
G g sen there, one Sundey afternoon, to visit her, and spend é

3 ‘-‘
few hours thore.

? And 414 sh= t ell you it was Ler home? A Yes, Eiz; and that
the 10t next to it belonged to here.

N And vyou bhad bLaen at h table, 3id4 you not? A Tea,

O Well, had you ever invested in angything in Wall Street
prior to thi A"~‘? A Yevar,

You no knowle 4ze at all sbout Tall Street? A Ne,

RECROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, HORE; :

0 Just & wouwent. Yhen was this Tunday that vyou visited

21

words, "trading




theres 8t her hom® in Jeresy? A I think it was som? time
prior to the 38th of July; I think so, but 1 am not surs.

D Do you think 1t waz around the 29th of July? A Yes.

Q 2nd then whan, in Auguet, was it that you viaited MacDonald's

place? A I think it was in ths early pert of August, but. I am net

Q ' Well, then, it was shortly aftar the 28th? A Probebly twe

or three weeks aftere.

0 Did you receive any other letter from her?A . I received a
iy &
letter from her, tslling that she hnd receivad another hundred

iollars that I had zen® hery, and had put 1%t in & pool in Crucibles

‘C";f‘:'l’ I tIAlnk th{ Btgc} Was,

0 TYhen wes that?! A That wa? 3¢opms time around the 28t%h of

Tv190 =
o \.A.I.J .
N @0 that you 314, 2 fter this tfirst transaction, and in the

latter partof July jein in =2 peol for the purchase of Cruscible

tsel?A I mwmailed her onz hundred dollarse. I 3idn't see hare
cWhat? 2 1 mailed her cne hunired Aollarse. 4idn't s=e her.
& s

¥ell, *that was joining in 2 pool to d4sal in Crucible

~12tter thers states what it was (indicass

11, now ycu usedthe worda' poocl®., ¥ae it investad in a

<
]
~
.
3
[
4
w
-
_—

& 4 o &'
; 1% wae,

Q@ Wow, the hundrel 4dollsre that you gave her, in the latter
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merket again, at 43; dcasn't 1ttt A Yas,

Q Well, had you given her psrmiseion $0 4o +tha+t?A I todd her,

ot

he day 1 gave her the cheok, if it want lowsr, she should selli %,

-

ind,if it wen% higher, she should dispose of it to my sdvantages

2

[

She undsrstood that, the day I geve her the chacks

® In nth=2r words, vou gave her a check for two hundred dols
lara? A Yes, 8ir.

C And was leaving it to hér «-~ A Only in Colorado Fuel,

: 7 1". ou ”11 .

Q 7You say only on Colorado Fuell? A Yes.

2N At letst, you were leaving it to her judgment to spsoculate

in Colorado Fuel?A I 4idn't want to lose on it, and I made her undes

Q Well, btut re you leaving it toher judgment tc spesoulatse
in ¢ ne stock? A Yes,
| L
n. Now, as etter of fact, weren't you leave it t0 her Iundes

o+ |
¢
t+
v/
Q
4
t
b
+
'
&
)
3
@
C -~
J
-
w
-
>

cckalA No, air.

ly 13th?A I don't remsmber

ther I 414 or not, 1 wrote her\a ettarg,bbtt I 'don't just

»
romemnhor ¢ iaten,
PR rote her aeveral lettars; 4id ycultA I wrote her sbout
v L2800
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(Mre Moors reads thele“ter to *+he jury.)

BY ¥?, MOORE:

~

Now, sfter thatpur chase of 43, 4id you get any further

letters from her?A I think there is ons thare, dated on July 38th,

O P14 you answer the latter of July 13th? A I called her Up, i

2 e | 4 5 ¥ Ny - ¢ - - 3 ~ 2 = |
Ay 1d you tell her to use hdr judgment in investing? A In|
nothing btut nolorsdo Fuel.
Q Are you certain about thet A Positive.

i £ - +)Y b Y - g
y ing wor bout that, than ysu 4id in Dis=
*a s A 1 . - 3 . + 3
t2llers? A "ell, she gave me +o understand that it was z0ing to ad-
P A “ e 4 s > 3 ~
13‘:, T id i 8 I T 1 4 ‘5{3:* * .
~ Y . -~ " A ™ & s By R K] s B
I s o BN 30, i3%2llere is goliug to advanoe,
13 2. e e i a1 T % R a T -~ E > 44
idn't eshe? < 8. SNy | isve 1 wrote her, and I said I had
MOYS WOLOY invest,
& » a T o wa that +ha Adads 3
» 488 4T 2 S PO ) ¢ 6] istinction and
b L & ) . » & 1 2 &% 4 T - 4 W e e Aaa | .
W W - - - L f - - 4 o et - e 1—1:‘. ?he
2 L P » BNy A
leal 1 I lc el, and s clains that she was,
,
" - - o - | - “W .
relly, x2rcis judzm in invaating for you?
{ "y -~ 3 M -4 - )
‘(’.'t - . 3 (o HVR § & - aill 1.
WV a o i A - 9 ~
-- 414 rite any reply to har letter of

b ad -~ .;

-
[ -
+
-«
-
N
1 2
e
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.
2]
8
v
o |
(o
wds
-
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4 |
e
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Ans Y4

her a cheock for »r 4 r '
8 c °T one hundred 40llare? A I Adon's remenber that,.

T -~ Y - wl
If I wrote her a letter,or whethar I Just sent her 2 shaok.

v

0B A o s
B4C you send her o sheck, or deliver i+ personally? A It

<
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.
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L2
;
4
o

but I don't think  so.

P g A - A
aor ) 2§24 ) o A }
&nd orn ¢ 3 u n% her another cheok for sne
1 2 9T 2ne
» Iwa 111 A 3 )
\ ] -~ . ™y - oo A R7ée !
auniresd 11 » BT on the 37¢hTA Prior t the .38¢h, I sent her
: ) ~ - etV - wa,
- 1 & 3 .
DL, . g Rl AR
- i - - IZUI‘A~ \«Ll 'S
'
~ A 3 - F o Iy
i Y ha *h v~ - 4 8 o 1 1 r
# vhe S0Th you ragelved an acknowledgment of tha »a
0 n Te
seipt of ¢ ne dundred dollars? A Yeg nir.
" - O 34 4n 14
| 4 : ~ hd o .
£l J AAJYA v 3 3 '.y ,:441. :’: ~h T ’t:ut 3“‘111"‘ out ¢
- - 3 v woaa N
™~ 'I‘_ e - - N
1 » - . + P N
c 1, : ing 11 hor 24ock? A Positively
- - - -
v .
; £
n . NOODT ™ . . e i ahe .
. id - -A.L, - .‘Aiu:o
" NANALTIT. ™ : .9 g
o s 4 "
. HUE: Th i id, ¥is8 Fltzzerald.
- & . ; . 7
(T rt ther mordehed the Jury in agoordance
-“sy ads -~ U5 b o &8

wd &) Lo P 4 y 18 f ~ . o M %
i otion 4168 : 16 o "riminal Procedurs, sni
took a recess uniil two o'clook.)
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YILLIAN Re: M AW DOFYALD 0f 81 New %trset,

A withess cnlled on behalf of tre Penple, being Auly sworn,

tentificsd ae follows:

,-‘_I-r.-‘:q h"‘l'r\".lfﬂv'ﬂ" ™ ar ¥ am v\(\_nv(\Irvyﬁ
o d i a . 4\

..

o ¥aglonald, what 18 your business? A I am a etsskbrokers

2 1 Where 18 your place 62 busineas? A My main ~*fice is as

-

~ Av A i - 4 & - o | " s w 4 "N -
i i - ) & 4T Nism . A - A . B U :f, 5
~ . 3 - S P2 3 —— 3 ~4is - & " & 28 v
Ar ny fice 7 in the ity w I
. . & m 11 4 - + 3 X
i ve » v 4 e I - L' ':‘30
~ b g ~
* . . -~ e -~ op A -~
In July 1918, he any fices 4i4d 2 have?)
4 -
- -
™ - -
B WA + 2 8 U A & 2
‘ . briey sity 1, rl=2asel? A T™ere was a mein
.
r 1 - A O - - p vy 3
£ ~ v - -~ y RS 4 & - - -
ice, ! rd FEet and~"4iT%h AVenue, and the otha
- | = DR 1 . 8 “ . ol g ] ey O .
Jp [ ' en o ) /B ¢ 22Xl J o b b o ..
& . J wh b - .- S D ~ o Ao . £ ~ -
8 numher roadway, of your uptomn
i ? '} T >3 2 1 " I LR eV L
I11C8 F i Lz . e AU o
-
"N A 1 . % . 21 2 . i > Yy & " ~ ™
¢ : i0n i U 7 - 108 2% 1947 Broalwa
- - -~ A ™ - Y - -

. - -

8 vear, pcesitl y a year andi a hal?

~ - 10r ” v ‘6",‘7 : % 2 "u"".h“! :P a a,n. ‘.:‘\
A " 4 ¥ -~ .y
.
® De you kncw the defendant, Yarien L., LaTouche? A Yegs
-
~ 2 : . " :
rl! UM AT }', 4 1‘: t‘uly f.f TSIC?A "'»'e. 51’."-

~ w. . '11;, ‘;’ - - 4 o | -1 r b | ’ m P o e -~ -

* WGE Ehe al any time in the employ o7 your company?
A L -
’



Qfn any capecity w

Q

N

o

AR

hatescever? A

W s

r

e

Lo »

-
ad

-

I mean, wes sh: sver in your employ? A wo.

-

¥ill yru give us, Mr, MaocDoreld, s brief de-cription of

your office, at 1947 Brosdway; theat ié, how meny rooms you had,
snd vheat the situstion of them was? A I waé enly in the office
¢ . : N
twice, tut there was & large ¢ffice an? sn ineide office.
Q And had you & ticker and board up h~re? A Yee
O And the uesual ”brri*ur; for a broker's officeth Vee,
® And the small office 1s used for whet purpcse, or was used
for whet purposel?a To give crdersy ususlly used by the manepger
te t nrdsrs, NG
3 De you knew whether or rot Nrs, LaTouche had arn acoount
i your firm on or gbout July 10th, 19181 A Yes.
? Do yeu krow whether or reot she depoesited any money or
beught any stook, on the dey of July 10th, 19187 A Yes. Having
emined the r ecords, I see that that is %) facty that she iiﬁ
Q Did yo ‘amine the regords of your office for thet particuls
ar time?®A Ves,
N And 4id youhave o traneseript mede, under your direction?
fo o e, ki : 8
QI she CUu A peper, and ssk y hether odbnot thet g
treriescript that you hed 6. Yee or ne. & Yes.
MR, PONCHUY: I ask to have it marked for
identificetion ¢4 thie time, eir.
3 iy
(It ie norked People's Txhibit 6 for identifisatie
? Fow, Nr, ¥aclc 34, 144 ¥ coamine your » cords, ot hy re-




Y A
: - 20
quest, to determine whather o+ not Nre, LaTouche bought any s*ockl;
frem your firn ¢cn ot sbout July Bthk, 19187 Yeg or nc? A Shs
bought® vhet there 18 fhere ¢n thet recorde.
Q Wae that r2oor€ made urnler ycur supervision? A-Yes, sire
® 1 show yeu thie peper, and =8k yru wmhrether thnt refreshes
vour recollectich on that subjeot?
¥n., MCOPE: 1 den't urnderstand thet the trensactions
were with thie man 2% all, and 1 don't see how he can refreeh
his recollecticn, your Fencr. Fe esye he wasn't in the of-
fice more thern twice in ites existarnce.
THE COURT: Vell, I suppoese I must custain the ctject: onm
Pe gould rct heve eny persconcl recollection to be refreshed.
RY MR, DPONOBHUY:
" Vell, 414 you examirne the bocks ¢f ¥, A, MacDonald % "cmpanjr
A Tess 8ir,
N An? whst de those bocks contein? .
Me. ¥OOPE: I cobject tc that, on the cane groundss
TET OAUPT: T sustein the objecticn. You can't
prove the o rte ¢f the bocks in that wey.
PY VR DONORTIT.
o -¥h s t n de thie *ransoript, if you knowm
Mr, MacDor2lAd® A Mr., Fumphreye.
L Y
BY THE COUPT:
Q Was Le the pmanager of the branch cffice?TA Ye, ei;:, he
ie neger of wy downtewn cffice, srnd the books are kept downtown.
@ Well, whom wouls les]l with if she bourht or sold stook ™




~ Was Yo 3 B R p i Yas .
as | the a4l o t ?’ =» -.‘.I‘-
~ T o 4 oy ~ %
s Y ow in r suploy?® Yo, sir.
A . 1 . 1 " - 4 = + 9 e 4 .«
' be 18 ! & No, r, I 4don't kr.on

~ d s d - b 44 2 & ho) 9 e M
: OUQ ' . : ": ‘..}‘. cV‘A v e
e . - v«f\"f\?.*wr.
- sa
! ¢
.
~ w . S nte i ] - e -~ 2 »
re the Yocke kept in 3 r main office ir. Few Street?
A Y 4 »
’ “-ao.
@) - " o). . 1 ws % a  Pisa - P : - 4
Are =2ny bonks whetever kept | branch 2ffice? & Yo, &in
~ AN S 4 L . 4 » % 4 4 1 A4 - 4“.
All trax ticna ¢ geur in % brench cffice are esnters
s 9 ' &3 PP e + room Aoy A~ - o ™y h % -:-"
S & COK ¥ o il L-VB, * 4 .u.jo
> VAN T » T ARdand & Ve - i
- - . - " W A fh
TP COUPT: I will allow kim to say whather that
" . | . - - e £ %% - . . % 4 4
b 8 ek 31N288 e I pill "..10"\ dve
= COTE e
. - . - -
e i
- >
- - MOTTTIMR g
d Y &~ ) » o " 1
- 4 5 » . L
, . ~& Yny 4 % yo v \:5 .-
+1C8, B! 4 4 '3 453
= 2 > P . Y r v -
@ 2 Y
— . AT AT T
® .
8 - 4 , g 1 -
- ’ - :
- "’
PRT2) Te ney.
~ 4 - ! W1 s mien) .
And wae (€ wit re FUmphre:
-~ € ’ Y
3 ¢ Y . -l f& TQT: Y.




That looke like NMre Fahey's hendwritinge I think he 414 1%, unds®
my supervision, with Mr, Humphrevs.
0 I show veu Pacp]_e's Exhivit 7. and a8k veu %0 look on the
bask of 1%, and tell me whether or net tre endorsemsnt on theys
ie mads by vour stamp? A Veee :
A
¥R, MOORE: I ecbject to thats We will oconceds 7
that thet chegk was received by us, and depositesd in the
crdinary couree of businessy an? that we regsived the two i
hundred 4dcllsrse. :i
¥ |
THE COURT: Well, btut they went to show who 1%
as depceited with,
ERe DONOHUE: Yes, =ir, thatlis my objiept s
A Cur stamp shews *thet it wass deposited with us.
MR. MOOPE: xception. :
F“Y moyIT™ “f\’f"‘\fr. (] '
Q Tell, could you t=211 from that ctamp whether you cesbhed
;
it for Yer, or deposited 1t %o her acoount? A Well *in all pos= ’
2ibilitien, 1%t voe deposited to her account; in the regular coursis
¢f buesinees, 1t would go that way. That statement will show Thata
v ™ TAYXIATITIT .
n Ard ocan 3 gteate, f%er edaminstion of 4} oke, whet
8 ith tke two hunired dollars? A It was depecsited %0
cetunt in *he Chathaw snd Pheoenix Bank, and credited to this
¥e E. LaTouche scoount,
L
0 And wae t! ey sount opened with thi reck? A Ye8
Q0 And is whele check was deporsited to ¥, La Touch's sos
count? A Y iw
? -l
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ikproper, sn .
or. COURTS  Yes, I think, if the strios procf ie insiested
uper, you must have the ceshier or someone here to
irafte were made on the account.
BY ¥R, DONOHUF:
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BY ¥P. MONRE:

® She traded, prier to the 10th of July, 1916; didn't she?

A \‘?,:. o >

O In other words, she was what we know ss a rocm-trader,
waen 't she?pr Tell, you might cell 4t thet. She was there pretty

nearly fvery dsy, when ghe traded.

C TWell, T don't know vhether it ie so or no%t, but I went

c¥
O
-
o |

iow whether she received at =ny time sny commieeions for sny
¢f these olients tha*t ghs brg;:;rjfh? A Well

, 11, no, no. We have

to heve a regulsr commiesion. I “on't know what arrancement she

mede with aseme of her own customere.
i . 3 _ :
Q During the periocd of time thst she traded with you, thie
legt time, are you able %t ssy ebout how much money she lost, in
the sum total of tre trading? A Yo, sire. Well, you me an or this
i e R v D
Q FTo. You s=id ekre began treding witl you -- or traded in

the la8%t time, about three yeare b fore, and shes wme quite sn acte

-

-
0 And durins that time she hed several i fferent mccounts?
.
L
-
N An8 some ¢f the were hey owr accounts, and some were for
clientel?hA Tell, at ! === ghe geened to Airect the sccounts, and
“yy 3o whd4 Ak o ‘s Yo - 1 -
thev were acccourte in hin > put up thre money. © the oo q+nvp1’
™

And would you be sble to say, during that period of time,
thet ehe $paded with you, sbout whet was the net result, in profis

or loee, of her tradirg?® I ecouldn't 8ayYe I hsd two hundred ao~
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coante, and I oouldn't tell you, an I ha4n't leoked up thet

v i

particular phase of the matters

O Well, you are able %o say that it resulted in 2 sub=
atantiel loas?A Oh, yes, 'yes.

C She d4id, during that time, form poole, 414 ehe not, te
treade in steck? A T ocouldn't ssye

Q Now, thie man that wae in chargeof vour office at that
time, wes Mr. Caphem? A Yees, sir,
Q And shortly =fter this, 414 yeo Aischergs him? A Why, ne,
I 4idn't dlscharge him. He got & position with C. Ce. Parpall & Cos

ai .-

N DPid vou heve. gcme trouble with him before he left?
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8 ticker, %o sselist her, if she went irtc btusiness for herself?

A NO. sir.

¥R. MOCPE: If your Hon~=» plense, I think thie is immeteris

Fapriae $+hea

claim here is that we investaq this money in a

ad ikl

Ck transagtion with her coneent, and the question i

vhetly2r we exceeded our autkority with that twe hundred

lollare.

TUR OATIDM. we9
o - . ¥

*1l, but I will ellew proé6f as to +he truth

or faleity of the representatione that

this woman »54e to

the girl, 4if she 4did mrke them.
¥R, MOORE: "xception.
BY ¥P, DONOHF:
@ That 414 vev mesn vhen you 8214 that you o014 her that
T *

[
»

.
-

>

-

1 0, ¥, her gettire 2 tioker?s Tell, when & new porson

sterts.in the brokersge business, they cen't pget a tiocker unlecs
© broker C, X.'s her or him.

» YOU Were rot going to pasy for it? A Oh, no, sir.

Yy ¢ ’ xpeneg~s ©f san office thet she opened?
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E BY MR. DONOHUE: .-
Q Did you ever talk about her reputation with anybody?

THE COURT: Well, there is no evidence on the record

as to that subject.
MR, DOROHUE: Very well, eir. I will withdraw the RN
question.
ROBERT Jo HUMPHREYS S, of 16 Lexington Avenue,
Fort Richmond, Staten Island, a witnese called on behalf of
the People, being duly sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. DONOHUE: :
. Q Mr. Humphreys, what is your businese? A Cashier and
manager.
Q For whom? A W. A. McDonald &VCompany.
Q And how long have you been a manager and cashier for thém?

A Two years, last September.

Q@ And were you cashier during the monthe of July, 1916, for

that firm? A Iwas.

Q And did you keep the books? , Yes, sir.

Q And ;111 you tell us your system of keeping the booke?
A Vell, the orders are received over the phone, and put in an
order book, and then they are transferred from the order book to
the blotter, and then posted from the blotter to the ledger.

Q@ And how many tooke do you keep altogethef? A Recording

the trades, do you mean?

Q Yes. A Well, there is three.

Q Well, what are they? A Order book, blotter and ledger.




™

2 L
Q And did you keep thoee same booke in July, 19167 A I

didn't keep the order book, but the telephone man kept that.

I kept the ledger and blotter,

Q And those books were always kept in the main office,

|

weren't they? A Yes.

Q And no booke were kept in the Branch offices, were they?

A PFNo, sir.

. Q Did you, at my requeef. make a transcript of those books
in' the main office? A Yes, |
Q I show you People's Exhibit 6 for ydemtification, and ask
you whether or not that is a tranacript'which you made up for me
at that time? A Yes, 1t‘is a duplicaté.
Q Will you tell us how you ma&é that up, pleéﬁe? A Why.»it,':
is copied from the ledger on 0 this statement.
Q And that ledger récorda what? A All transactions made.
Q With whom? A With varian L. La Touche.
Q From when until when? A From July 10th, 1916.
MR. MOORE: I object to that and move to strike that
out, because he cannot know wiether they are all the

transactions.

THE COURT: Well, the question can be amended.
BY MR .DONOHRUE:
Q@ Te it intended to cover all those transactions? A Yes.:
‘ MR, DONOHUE: I offer it in evidence.
¥R, MOORE: I 6bject t0 it, as no foundation; n§ proper ]

foundation, has been laid for it. It appears that it is
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3 ’
not an original entry, but ies copied fron oral telephone com=-'
runications over the wire, and has no value, one way or the

other, in detem ining whether the transaction wae had, or

any transacticn.

THE COURT: In the ' firet place, the transcript would

not have been admissible, if the objection had been made and

the books had been called for; and, in addition to that, this |

ledger was not a book of @riginal entry, but wae poeted ffou
the blotter, and the blotter from the order book, and the

order bobk from verbal.ordera over the phone. I will sustain
the objection.

BY ¥R. DOFOHUE:

C Now, have you made an examination of the first book thit
this account was iept<1n? Ar Vell, that was previous to0 my beiﬁg
spployed by W. A.'McDonaid & Company.

¢ Ko. 1 mean frén July 10th on. A Yes.

C. And did you cOnpgre that with the entries made in the
ledger and the blotter? A No, eir; 1 just copied thies from tho.
ledget, because all the trades grpear --

YR, MOORE: I object to that.

Q Can you tell, Mr. Humphreye, whether or not, from the
exaxination of the bqoks that you made, Mre. L& Touche ever bought 1
any Colorado }uel and Iron in the month of July, 18167

¥R. MOORE: I object to that on the same grounds.

THE COURT: Objection sustained.

BY MR, DONOHUE:
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Q@ Are you the cashier for all the offices? A Yel._

Q . For the three offices? A Yes.
Q And is 4%t your duty to poet the cash tramsactions that

are made with your firm? A Cash transactions?

\

Q Yes. A Well, they are all over the phone, and they stato. ;

whether they want to receive or deliver the stock. Otherwiop it
is on margin. .
é Can you state whether or not you made out a check for
Mre. La Touche, after July 10th, 19167
MR. MOORE: I object to that, as entirely immaterial,
if the Court please.
THE COURT: I will allow it.
MR. MOORE; Exception.
BY MR. DOKNOHUE:
Q Did you? A I made out one on July 10th.
@ For how much? A $50.
@ And to whose order was that made? A M. L. LaVTouche;
Q And whom did you giﬁe that check to? A Nrs. La Touche.
Q And can you state whether or not on July 10th you gave
her any money? A Yes, sir; fifty dollars cash.
Q@ And do you know fram where you got that goney to give to
her? JWhere did you get that money to give to her, that $100?
A I took it out of the cash drawer of W, A. McDorald & Company.
Q Did you give it to her pornonailyr A Yes.
And what was that charged agaipset?! A Charged agel net

the Hr L. La Touche account.

ey
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Q And what was her account, what was the amount of her .

account, At‘tho time you gave her thises one hundred dollare?

- A $200 she had put up that day, July 10th.
Q And you gave her $100?T A Yes.
Q Did she say anything, at that time, to you sbout buying

Colorado Fuel & Iron stock? A No, sir.

(2

Q2 And when was the $300 put up with your firm -- the hour,
if you can remember? A Well, between. four ahd five o'clock, aftg:*?
§usineeehad ciosed.‘ . - |
Q And ie that the chéck that she gave you (indicating
People's Exhibit 3)? A Yes.
Q And was it from the proceeds of thie check that you gave
her thié money, this $1007 g 1
(Objected to. Allowed. Exception.)
A Yes, sir. “
Q And that left whét balance? A $100.

Q And di4 you receive any other moneys from ¥re. La Touche — |

BY THE COURT:

Q- ¥as that $300 the only credit she had.;t that tine?
A Yes, at tﬁat time. |
BY MR. DOKTHUE:

¢ Did she have any stock that wae being held as collateral,
or any security of any kind, except this $300 check? A I coulda‘?}
say. I didn't eee her etatement of account at that time.

Q But you know that you credited this $100 that you gaw

her againet thie $200 check that you received from her? A Yes. ;
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0 You do know that?t A Yes.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MOORE:

Q Now, Mr. Humphreye, at the time, or, on the 10th day of

July, 1916, this woman had with your company a number of trading
. accounte, didéphe not? A At that time?
Q Yes? A Well, I'll have to see the statement to make sure.

I can't remember all those things.

e |
¥

Q Well, don't you'remember whether or not =- A No, I couldn‘t§

R

say positively. ' : g
Q ~-- that she had eevefal? A Fo, I couldn't say pbsitively._}
Q Well, you know that ehe'had been trading with thie

company before the 10th of July, 1916t A Yes, sir.
Q And, if she traded, she had a trading account? A Why,

yes; but she had closed. it out. |

Q Well, do you know whether she had closed it out or not?

A Yes,she had closed it out.
Q@ Well, do you know whether or not there were peveral ac-

counts that ehe was carrying, and tradhzg}on, at that time?

‘&

A No, sir; she wasn't,
Q And dogou say fhat‘aa a matter of.knowlgdgé? 1 da;'t'c“arcf~
whether they were in her own name or in somebody else's name?
A No, eir; ‘nof at that time.
Q Well, when was the account closed, if you say it was
closed? , Well, I couldn't say poeitively. At that time I

rementer of no account being opened of Mre. La Touche.

¢ You remember of no account being opened? A No, sir.
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i St : ; .
Q And do you remember of any account being closed? A Well,
1 think that she had an M. L. Dow account which was closed.

Q She traded under that name, didn't she? A Yes.

Q And under what other names? A C. Higgs.

Q Do you know whether the Dow account was closed #t that
time? A Yes. .

Q And whether the Higge acoount was closed or not? A Yes.

And she had at one time an M. L. Dow account, No. 3.

Q And was also closed? A Yes, sir, “

Q Now, are you able_to eay; after looking at this paper,
whether she had any stock transactions with your company on the
104h of July? A On that day, she sold short ten Mexican Petrol-
eun. |

i ¢ am‘hot asking you about that day. I an. asking you if

‘you are able to‘say whether she had any accounts that were not

closed, or any trades that were not cloeed? A No, sir.

0 Well, from any Bource are you able to say whether or nos

she paid your concern §1300 on the 18t day of July, 19157 A Nok .1

sir; I couldn't eay.

@ And whether on July 7th, 1615, she bought $400 more?
A  1 waen't there at that time.

Q Well, if you had the books that you are talklhg about

here, could youttelll A Well, I didn't go back that far in

the books.

-

¥R, DONOHUE: I object to thie, if your Honor please,

as entirely immaterial.
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THECOURT: Yes. He saye that on July 10%th she had

no outetanding accounts,

BY MR. MOORE:
Q Well, are you able to say that on July 7th, 1916, she

jepoeited with your firm $2007 A I haven't said poeitively on

that.

~

G Are you abie t0 say whether on July Sth she gave you §100?
A No, sir. |
BY ¥MR. DOKOHUE:

Q What do you mean by that, "No, sir®? A I mean I didn't go
looking up that accournt, to see what she deposited.
BY TEE COUET;‘ : 4

Q What acccun; are you -peaking of?l A This is thé
trénscr:pt of the ¥. L., La Touche account, from Julj 10th ﬁo
Auguet let.
BY ¥R. MOORE: ' _

C Did you ever, before July 10th, 1916, have an M. L.~Doﬁs-

or rather, an M. L. La Touche account? A BNo, esir.

Q And yet she was trading with you for nearly three years?

A They are different accounte.

r

Well, she was the one who was conducting the accounts;
wasn't she? A Yes, ;1r.

G Are you able to say whether on June 33nd she paid you ==
1916 -- she paid you $200 on account?
| ¥R, DORORUE: I object to that, How 1s that material

t0 the transzadtion we are trying here now?
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THE COURT: Well, if she had balancee in other accounts,

it would be material, I suppoge. Objection overruled.

BY MR. MOORE:

Q Are you able to say? A No, eir,
0 Now, when she drew out this $50 in cash and the §50 check,

she didn,t instruct you as to any particular account to charge it

to, did she? A vYes,eshe did.

Q Are you sure about that? A Yes. »

Q Why are you sure about it? A Because she gaid she didn't
want it in the C. Higgs account, but in the M. L. La Touche
éccount.

Q@ Then she did have some other accounts? A Well, this was
really the opening of thise accOunt: One wae transferred to the
other.

Q@ Then on July 10th she transferred the Higge account to
the La Touche account, did ehé? A VYes.

0 And then ehe deposited $200 and drew out $100? A Yes.

Q And how long had she been rﬁnning the Higgs account beforo}t:
the~ioth of July? A Well, pfevious,to that, that account had
been closed out, and, in making these trades, and'dopoelting
$§200, éhe came down in the afterhoon}and said that it should have
been in the M. L. La Touche account.

Q@ Well, you said you transferred the Higgs account to

M, L. La Toﬁohe? A Thege trades --

Q I-am not talking about theee trades. Did you transfer

the Higge account to M. L. La Touche? A I did.




e . ' 80
BY THE COURT: | v

Q Now, let me see if I understand this. Ae I understand

you thie $300 check was deposited firet in the Higgs acocount?

A Yes, sir.

Q And then it wae deposited in the M. L. La Touche account?
A Yes. She stated that she didn't wanted it charged to the
Higge account, but to the M. L. La Touche account.

Q And that left no money at all in the Higge account?

A ves, 8lir,

Q And all the money that was transferred to the La Touche
account was this $200? A Yes, sir.

BY THE FOREMAN:

Q I would like to know whether there was such a party
éxisting as Higgs, or whether she was acting in the name of Higgs,
and also in the name of Dow. A Well, that I omldn't state.

Q You never saw eithar party? A No, sir.

BY THE SECOﬁD JUROR:

Q How did you getthis -- did you get this $200 check

personally? A Yes.

Q Who did you get it from? A Mrs. La Touche.

Q She handed it to you? A Yes.

Q Where? A In the office.

Q Which one? A 81 ﬁew Street.

Q You didn'thget this check from the uptown office then?

- A No, sir. | ;

Q What did she tell you when she gave you the check?
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A Well, she said that the account wae oponed of C. Higge, and

she wanted it tran.forrsd %o tho M. L. La Touche acoount.

Q When she handed you the cheéck what inetruction did she
give you? A ihy. she said she wanted a hundred doliarl, a §50
check and $50 cash, which I gave her.
BY THE COURT:

Q Well, di1d she tell you %o whﬁt account to depoeit 1t,
the ohéok? A Yes, she paid, "Take it from the Higgs accqunt.'

Q Wéll. the juror wants %0 know how i% got into the Higgse
account. A Well, there must have been an order from the uptown
office, evidently,

Q Eut you say you got the check? A Yee,}bu; she had given
the order ﬁt ¥r., Kephan's uptown office. |
BY MR. DONOHUE:

~
©

But she actually had the check when she came downtown?

Yoo ki

A Yses, sir.
BY THE FECOIDJﬁEOF:

Q KNow, an ofier was placed before Mrs. La Touche came to
your main office? A Yes.

Q And that order was placed, and whatever tbax ;rdqr wae,
wag to go to the Higge Ac:ount? A Yes,

& And then ehe came down and told you to do iaat? A Sho
said that she itenould have been applied to tho M. L. La Touoh.
account and to give her oredit in the M. L. La Touche account.

Q Well, then where did the Higge account com® in?! A She

eaid to take it out of the Higge account the $200
’ ~ -




BY MR/ ¥OORE:

L : ‘ "1'.|
BY MR, DONOHUE: ‘ .

13 & 53 il
Q Now, tell us, in bookkeeping language. You had the Higgse

account and charged it with this order? A Yes.

Q Withthe order that wae placed over the telephone? A Yes.

Q And then there was a payment to be made against that

order? A Yes.

O

And was that check paid against the order of the morning?
A Yees, V

Q You don't know why the change was made from the Higgs
account to the La Touche account; do you? A On demand from

Mrs.: La Touche.

Q@ That ie all you know about it? A Yes.

Q Now, if you had an order for this stock, yhat was the

amount to be put up on that order? A VWell, we'generally required
ten per cent.
Q And did you have anything to cover that margin? A Yes,

only $100, after I gave her the $100.

L

Now, she also gave you her check, did she not, or a check,;f
on July 26th for this amount? A Yes.
Q And that made good, then the original $300, dida.t it?

A Well, yes, if you want to put it that way.

Q Let me understand you. You say that you received some o
order or communication from the uptown office in reference to the ff

LY

Higge account? A Yes.

Q VNow, tell us what you received. A The telephone man



- BY THE COURT:

e ' 53
receivedthat, the order clerk.

Q Well, what did you receive?

MR, MOORE: I object to it.

THE COURT: Objection sustained. He cannot tell what
the telephone man got.

BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q At the time she deposited the $300 in the M. L. La Toucho.
account, did she have any credit whatever with your firm? A Ho,lﬁ@
Q And that $300 having beeﬁ credited to that account, and A
$100 taken by her, that left only $100 to the credit‘of that
account? A. Yes, oir.’
BY THE SECOND JUROR:
| Q ‘And that last $100 that was deposited by her, did that

apply -- was that to be applied as additional margin on account

‘of the reduction in price, or was it to cover an additional order?

A It was opening her account of ¥. L. La Touwhe again, that she

had closed on the 33nd of July.

Q She closed the account, and that $100 opened a new
account? A Yes, s#ir.

Q And was that $100 in the check of Mies Fitzgerald? A 'ell?%
I don't know. That was depositedvin the Colonial Bank. 3
BY THE SECOND JUROR:

Q@ Well, the answer to my questions 1olthat the $100 of .)1.t1;,‘.-j;‘?‘3"':E
36th was to open a new acocount? A Yes, sir. ;

Q@ Now, on June 32nd, you say the account was closed?
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A Yes, eoir.

Q How was it closed? A BShe got cash for $34.45, that

was the balance due on the original account of M. L. La Touche.

A fhe kod been 8014 Sut, sn? tha* wes the balance to her

~redit? A Yes

.
rY R MOOTE
O Then she deposited tris other hundred 4ollare?A Yes,
0 To that account? A Yes.

4

Q@ Pringing it back, of course, %to the origiral two bhuadred
.Sﬁ"ﬂ._.-—:? [A "O ot
ellars? N
p -« \:r- 5 f\(\?\'cr?v—yr\:

!

0 Explein thet tou s? A Feprrdirs the two hundred 4o0llars?

0 Yo, regerding whe*t thie ore hundred A0llers ;V" wee dé-
pogited was for, v
THE CMUIPT: Fe -2id fr>» reopenins the scoounts. That 1is
) i e Vo -1 e »
} SR, .
¥T . DOYORUT: ™ People reat, 4f your Honor please
P, MOOTE: N e mur Fonor pl se, T ov for the
irectior of = rdiet, or round thet the Psople have
feiled ¢ stablie cenge ofa oticn egainet the defendanty
Trare {81 roof : A trade was not carried out
noordir to ¢ ~rrreenent with ¢ complaining witrene,
f\\’ s i :L + one - ' 4 + 1 want to aak
PR L 9 ot il by o
- - ~ .
mv e -lfnﬁf":

? Yhen etocke =re bought on mergin, they =ve rot deliversds
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THE OOURT: Well, that wouldl heav 2 been ten reroent; wouldn 't

it?

MR. DONOHUE: No, sir. She was to buy twenty shares, at
43-1/3.

™

THE SECOND JURCR: Your Honor, could I ask Mr. Tumphreye
2 Qu=stion?

] 3

THE COURT: Yes.

THT WITNESS: HUMPHREYS: PRecalled:
BY THE SFCOND JUROR:

Q Mr. Humphreys, from your emamination of your rsocrds,
in-csnnecticn with the LaTouche accounst, ihe Dow,accouht and
Higgs acocunt, and any 2ther account that Mrs, LaTeuche traded
under, were thers any “ransactions --- was tﬁere a ﬁraneactiﬁn

™~

in Coleraie Fusl and. Iron, “wenty sharss, on or about July

&)

€th, 9th or 10th? .According to your records, did 3zhe place
Ior, or buy, twenty sharees of Colorado Fuel snd

Iron? A Well, she might have. I 4don't know. Not acelording to

R, MOORE: I objeot to % at, because the-*ranécript beging
10th of July.

TEF COURT: Objection sustainsd.

DA,

ell, is thors any record on this transcoript, on this ré-

purchase ¢ twenty sharas of Colorado Muel and

NONOKUT :

1

<.\

&
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THE COURT:

Yes,

4N

v id
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8t would only bes heareéy-

)

NONOHUT:

ave any power of sttorney %2 sign those nanmes?! Did she sign ¢

0 Now, between the 8th and 10th of July, didshe have any othel

an accounts there?A No, sir.

.

0. What about this Higge account? A That had bsen clesed.

Q And that wasmopened by this two hundred dollarstd Yea,

N And what about this Now 2ccount? A That had been closed

n. S0 that, on the 2%h, she had no accounts outstanding?

Q And then ths only account that wae opem was the Higge

count, by *he depoesit of the two hundred dollars? A Yes, sir,

O and you say that you don't know whethsr she put two hun-

‘th of July, 1921681t A No, sir.

And can.you .atate then, whether shs had sn Open acoount
T & No, sir,
Q@ Or whather she purchased anytking on that day or not?
'C, -%,. |
”‘Of course s g n making your ¢9o [

mpany a pra2sent of

MR, DONOHUE: Oh, I obijsct ¢t that questicn as frivolouss

¥

THE COURT: Objecti-p=sustained,

THUP TORFUAY»

In refeorence to the Higgs and Dow sccounts, 4id Mrs. LaTous

herself, «-- C, Higge, by M, L. LaTcuche:"




And 444 the sames thingwith the Dow acoounte

n

Ahd you never met either Higge or Dow?! A Yo, sir..

BY 1 ‘_I(\."\.T.‘T?:

AN Wow, I wen* to meke $his oleer. And you are uncertain whethess
er she pald you one hundred dellars on %he 9th ¢f July, 1918} are
+
you nnt, alec? A Yes, I am uncertaln.
\

MP, MOOFE: Now I renew my motion, if yocur Hona

o)
-
%
0
w
w
.

MR, DONOHUE: Will your Honcr hear me now?

THT OCURT:
:

It appe=2rs now, by the teatimony of this witness, that

thers was no ou%etanding account until this cheock wae Asposit

ed, and this check would be Jjuet eunsu for ten 'percent mere

ging 2nd 1t ap; : s, also, that o1 nunired dcllars of 1% wes

nt onee drswn oSut by the defendant; and; therafors, I will

issve 1%t te » jury cn this etate of the evidence, to say
iether Or ncé chadk 8 arplied iA accordance with
reament ith Xiss Fitzpersld,

N, CMTE: But d3 unsable tc aay whether she Jdeposited
t twe hundred 4cllars orn the 7th.

P o Tt 14 et-oar if she deposited twe million on
that day, because, 17 skes hald no outstanding acoount, that
youl 2 5 gl irew it oute.

Re MOORE: PBut ! 11 ¢ 2uld know would bs by

report from the uptown f?i:e, erd that it 3oasn't appea
on %! heoka 3
. 5%, I = o - 3:‘!.. !,'_ A N v L
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THE COURT: Well, if youo
but, &t least, it can be made clear
=5 L
¥R, NONOHUE: Cean't we go on wisth
your Henore
TEE COURT: No, I 49 not think tha

on, until the People's pro

of is comp
(The fourt then =23monish=2d the Ju

ing, Decembrs
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. said, she wished to have this transferred; that it shouldn't have

84
TRIAL RESUMED.

‘New York, December 230th, 1917,

ROBERY 3. HBUNY? a‘a E Y S, being recalled by the
District Attorney, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, DONOHUE:

‘ Q Now, Mr, Humphreys, on the day that H;;. La Touche came
to your office, With this two hundred dollar check, do you know
what the condition of the Higgs account was? A She didn't have
any at the time, _ .

j Q And right immediately before she came in, what is the
condition of her account, if she had any? A Well, the $300, was

placed in the Higgs account, during the day.

Q Well, how waes it placed in the Higgs account during the
day? |

A Over the telephone. To give her credit for two hundred
dollars.

And so when she came in, what did she say to you? A She

been been in thO‘Hijgl account, but in the M,L. La Touche aocouht;ii
Q In other words, she opened up a new account,in the name of :
M.L, La Touche? A Yes, sir, A |
Q And you depoaited that ocheck to her credit? A TYes, .12."f

THR OOURT: He testified to all that, yesterday.
HR.VDONOHUE:

If your Honor will just bear with me for

& second, I think we can clear this up.
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Q And then, as you testified before, did you have one
hundred dollars -- fifty dollars in cash, and fifty aollaes &8
a cheok? A Yes, sir,

~Q And that left her one hundred dollare? A Yes, sir,
Q And what was thatused for at the time? A For margin
for ten ~hares of Mexican Petroleum,

Q And what was her finicial status with your firm at that
time? A She had one hundred dollars credit, and was short ten
Mexican Petroleum, |

Q And did that leave any further credit with your firm than

the one hundred dollar margin? A No, sir,

Q And she had to put up tha‘ one hundred dollars for a

purchase, that she had made that day? A For a ialo, she made th;t
day.

Q Do jou know whether or not on the 35th of July; she
deposited any money to that account? A‘ S8he did, one hundred
dollars.,

Q And do you knoi how that was deponsited? A Yes,

Q . How?

YR,MONRE: I object to that as immaterial irrelevent
and incompetent,
THE CNrURT: I will allow {t,
MR, M'ORE: Exoception,
Q0 How was it depcosited? A It was deposited in the Oolontllii
Bank. |
Q Was it a check? A Yes,

® And do you know who the chack was made payable to * A WNo,



66
eir, I didn't see the check,

Q The check came to your office how? A It came to the Bank'

office, at S6th Street.

Q And how did she zet credit for it? A It was deposited in

the Colonial Bank, and we gave her credit for one hundred dollars.

Q On the 36th of July? A Yes, sir, ' ;
Q Do you know'whon the M,L. Dow, account was closed out,
account number one? |
MR, MOOR%®: ©Now, if your Honor please, I take it,that he
isspeaking entirely from books, and‘I object to it, upon
the ground that the witness is not competent or‘qualifiéd,

and it is not binding upon the defendant, .

: ed
THECOTRT: I understood that he was to be recall/to prove

what huppened b2tween the 8th and 10th, if he ooﬁld.
MR, MOORE: But he is asked when certain accounts were
closéd out. " '
THE COURT: He can testify to when thay were closed.on
the books §f the firm.
BY MR, DONOHUE:
Q Can you te'l us when the M.L. Dow, number one account, was ;?
\J closed on the books of your firm? ‘ ' |
YR, MPORE: I object towthat. The bookl%poak for them-
selves, and are the best evidence,

Q Now,then, take this book,

MR, MORE: I object to his testifying from the books, on j




-1

the ground that the booke are not themselves, shown to be

competent.

THE COURT:  Well, you just objected because he did not

testify from the books.

MR, MOORE: But all that he can testify to is what the
books show, and that is nct competent here under the proof
that has been offered.

THE COURT: Do you mean that it is not proof that this

is the book?

VR, MOORE: No, But I say, even if it is the book, -there
is no proof that }t is compepently kept, as.rogﬁrds to the
defendant. 1 am not objecting to that there book,being their
.1odg§r; but I do object to anything of the contents, being

read or offgred in evidence.

THE COURT: But you objected, a moment ago, bocauio it

wasthe best evidence,
~ MR. MOORE: But the ledger itself, would not be cdnpotcﬁt,

and, therefore, he can't indirectly prove, what he could not
prove irectly. |

THE COURT: You say that the only way,that the account ¢ iﬁ
be shown to have been closed out, is by the ledger, and now
you object to the ledger as incompetent?

MR, MOORE: Yes,sir, In the first place,the witness
has no pqroonal knowledge, of her tran.aotlon.

THE COURT:- The §bJoction is overruled,

YR, MNORE: Exception.




BY MR, DONOHUE:
Q Will you tell us that, please? A January 3let, 19186,

M.L. Dow, account, closed with debit balance of seventy-nine

dollare and seventy-eix cents,

Q WNow, can you-toll us,when the I.L.Dow; number two account
was closed? A TYes,

Q lﬁon? A May 17th, 1915,

Q And when was the C. Higgs account closed? A June 19th,
12186,

Q Now, when was the M.L. LaTouche account opened? A July 10,

Q And when was that closed? A She closed the tcodunt'on
August ls*, ‘ | .

Q What was the condition of the account at that time? A Well,
the%e‘vere two accounts. She closed one account on July 32nmd, k

and then she reorened it with that one hundred dollar deposit

on July 26th,
Q HNow, were there any cash depo-;to'lldo by Mrs. ‘La Touche,
between July 10th, and July 36th, except the one for the one

hundred dollare,éyou have already mentioned? A -No, sir,

MR MOORE: One moment. I object to that oen the ground,
that the witness cannot know, It appears that the trlf.not;oni
was had at the 67th Btreet, offics, and all that he knov.,i
was what was reported tc him, and, therefore, it is incompet 5

THE COURT: Well, the testimony ies that all ‘transactions |
-went to the books of the main office, I will allow it,

MR, MOORE: Excertion,
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BY MR, DOﬁOHUE: |
Q What was your answer? A No, eir,
QA Did she, between July 8th, and 10th, or any time in the
month of July, dopouit anything, but the sums you ha'e already

‘mentioned? A No, sir,

Q Now, did she have any credits with your company, during
~that'time? ¢ ,
MR, MOORE: I object to that, if the Court please, on the
ground that the witness is incompetent, to teotiry to that.
»If there are any credite, I submit, the books are the best »
evidence, as to that, and the books should be rrovern. He
can't know anything, but what the books show,
THE COURT: Well, then I will let him prove it by the
books, if that is your objection. | .
¥R, YOORE: But I object to the books. It must be piovon
by the books, as their best evidence, and then the Books
are not evidence, unless they Are proved to be képt corrogt—
full., .
THE COURT: Well, I will allow them to prove the bookl.
I understood you, a minute ago, to say that you did not objoc_é
on theground that there was no proof those are the books.

MR, MOORE: Those are the books of that company, but

transactions are made in the branch office, and then telephon-
ed in, and then transferred to several other books, before
they reach this book, and, therefore,this book, is not

competent, is not & book of original entry; and he is testify-

ing from a book that is not competent, and I object to what .
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the books show, firet, and then I object to the books
being produced in evidence, |

THE COURT: Very well, I will sustain the objection, until

the books are proven properly.

CROSS EIAHIﬁATION.BY MR, MOORE:
Q Now, Mrs. La Touche,had other accounte than the ones you
have named, with your company? A Not that I know of, no, sir.
Q Outeide c¢f your pqoks at all -- you came into the firm
when? A 1915, August 1st. : |
Q And when you came intc the firm on August lst, do you know

- whether, under any nare whatever, Mrs., La Touche, had a credit

- with your company? A VNo, sir; I didn't take charge of the books

until September lst.

Q Do &ou know, without reference to your books? Do you know
now, from business relations that were had with Mrs. La Touého,
whether she did not have a credit with your company, when YOu
wer; there in August,1915?7 A That I ooulgn't state.
Q And do~you.know whetheror not -- you don't know how many
accounts that Mrs. La Touche had, do you, with your concern?
A Four, that I know of, |
BY THE COURT:
Q Well, in addition to keeping the books, you saw Mre. La '
Touche,from time to time?! A vyes, sir, _ ,
Q And how often did you use to see her? A VWell, when I fi ff

came there, ehe ran the Dow account, and I used to see her every

day.

Q And in 1916, how often? Very seldom, because she went
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uptown then,

Q And you never heard her mention any other account,than

the four you have testified to? A No, sir,

Q And you are the bookkeepe;? A Yes,sir,
Q And to'your knowledger, there was no other account of
her's there? A VNo, sir,
BY MR, MOORE: ‘
Q Just a moment, Mr, Humphrey. DQ‘ydu know when this
Sranch uptown,was opened? A Why, I couldn't specify the exact
date; no, sir.

Q But it was opened,since you began working for this

company} A Yes,

Q Now, after the branch office was opened ubtqwn, Mra.. La
Touche didn't come to the downtown office, did she? A Very seldom.
Q Did she come there more than once or tiice, during that

whole period of time?
VR ,.DONOHUE: lhat'period?v
MR, MOORE: That the uptown office was opened.
A From the'time we op=ned the branck, until ie cloaéd it?
Q Yes, A No, I don't thiﬁk she did.
Q And what ever business she did, she did with the ﬁptownA
office? A Exactly. |
MORTIMER FKAPHAUN, of 138 West 66th Street, a witness

called on behalf of the Pecple, being duly sworn, testified

as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY HR, DONOHUE;

Q Mr, Kaphan, what is your buqinena? A Stock broker.
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Q What is that? Please speak louder. A Manager for

|
a -tooqbrokor'a firm,

Q And who are you employed by? A Crossman, Sherman &

Company.
Q Now, on July 10th, 1916, and sometime prior thereto, were
“you employed by W,A, Mc Donald & Company? A Yen, eir,

Q In What capacity? A Manager of the Bank's office, at
1947 Broadway.

Q And from when to whén, were you uphthere7 A I-lhouid
judge aboutAa year ,or a year and a few months, with Mr., Mc Donald. .
Q Beginniné when, about? A Well, say, roughly, about
March. 4
'Q In what year? A Year ago.
Q 19167 A Yes,sir,

Q Until when? A Until a few months ago.

Q During that time, did you meet the defendant, Mrs. M.L,
La Touche? A Yes,sir,
'Q And was she employed by you? A No, sir; she was up therq
as a trader only, ‘ e ~
 Q Now, Mr, Kgphén, 1id you ever take any ordere from here,
for the buying or eelling of etock? A qu,lir. »
Q Will you tell ue the system of bﬁying and selling stock
at that office? b,

A Why, she wpuld give me an order, and sign an order bldnk,

I would phone it,tc our downtown office.

Q And would you make any written mdmorandun of this otdgrr



73

A VNo, sir; because the books were all kept downtown.

Q Now, tell us the system of bookkeeping up there, at the

branch office? A I had none whatecever, It was at once phoned‘
down to the downtown office, and, if money was deposited, that
was phoned down, If Mrs. La Touche paid in one hundred dollare
on account, they would credit it to her account, downtown.

Q You are not testifying to a specific instance are you?

¥R, MOORE! Well, he says he would phone down the amount,

BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q And, as she bought stock, you would phone the order é@éown?
A Yes, just the same as the money,

Q You kept no books at the branch office? A No, sir,

Q Did you at any time, ever withhold anyorders from the

downtown office, which were given to you, by Mrs. M,L. La Touche?

A Withhold then? sir.

No
ala o
Q You forwarded/of them, in the usual course of business, to

~the downtown office? A Yes,sir,

Q DO you know whether or not ﬁrs. ¥.L, La Touche had an
account with your‘firm, on or about July 10th, 19173 A Icouldn?;
recall that, because I have kept no bookkeeper. She hid an iooount%

with ué though.

Q Under iﬁat name, did you first meet Mres, LA, Touche? A I’:

think under the nare of Mrs. Dow,
. Q Mrs, Dow? A Yes,
Q And how long did you know her as Mrs, Dow, Mr, Kaphan? A
Right =long, until a few months afterwards, and then I learned her

Y
S
ir' o



J o
/ - S

74
name was Mre. La Touoche.

Q And when was it you heard heard the name of Mres. Ia

Touche? A Well, in my of "ice, when they addreesed her as Mrs,.

La, Touche,

L

Q And how long after you knew her as Mrs. Dow, was that? A I
should judge, a couple of months,
Q And dfd you know her also as Mrs, H;ggo? A Yes,
Q And she had accounts, or she bought and sold stocks, undér
that name; didn't she? A Yes,

A Yes,

MR. DONOHE: May I have thie paper marked for identifica~

tion, at present, your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes,

(Marked people's exhibit 7, for identification.)
Q I show you People's exhibit 7, for identification, and ask
you if you ever gaw that before? Yes or no? A Yes.

Q Where did you see it? A It must have been given up &t

- my office.

Q. Do you know by whom? A By Mrs. 'Lu. Touche, yes.

q

Q And do you recngnize the indorsement on the back? A Yes,

I think that is her signature,

Q Do you think it is, or do you know that it ie? A Yes, it f

isher signature,
Q It is her signature? A Yes,

Q And do you know why that wae depoeited, or how it came to
be dopﬁlitod, at youg offficer A She put it up as margin,
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Q Do you know on what particular stock? A No, eir; I
do not.

VR, DONOHUE: I offer it in evidence.

THE OOURf: What is that?

MR, DONOHUE: Thie is the hundred dollar check, on July

3th, tha* wae credited to her account, A | '

THE COURT: That she got from Mise Fitzgerald?

MR. DONOHUE: Yes, eoir,

THE COURT: neceived,

(It iemarked People's exhibit 7.)
BY MR, DONOHUE: 4
Q And now, MNr, Kaphan, can you say whether on.}ulj 10th, 6:

'sny day after that, Mre.La Touche bought any shares of stock in
the Colorldé Fuel & Tron Company? A 'Bho would deal in many

stocke, I can't say any particular stocks,

BY THE COURT:

’ Q loil, any stocﬁithat she did deal in, you phoned the orders
down to the main of’ice? A fes,8ir, .

CROSB8 EXAMINATION BY MR, MOORE:

Q Of course, when you said you knew her under the name of

Dow, you all the time knew her under the name of La Touche, did 4
you not? A No, When I firet met her, she was trldlﬁg under th‘{f
name of Dow, BShe had been trading downtown, before I met her,

Q@ And you understood that to be her husband's name? A Yes, 4

Q And shen she signed the name of Dow, wae it "by Marian la

Touche®? ASome.of the orders, were just Dow,
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Q And some of the orders or checks ehe lignod.iow,'por
Marian La. Tpuoho*? A No, sir. When she had an account in the
nare of Dow, she alwaye esigned the checks or orders Dow, and when
she had the name of La. Touche, she signed the name of La Touohﬁ.
Q During the time that you were in charge of this branch
office -- say up to July 1916 -~ Mre. La. Touch was almost a
daily tradér;'wasn't she? A Yes,
~Q And she was what wdo inown as a room-trader; was she not?
A VYea, gir.
Q And she would by and sell on margin; wouldn't she? A Yes,
'Q Now, when do you say that you began working in this uptown
office, about? A Well, I would jay ahpug'a year and a few months
ago.
Q That is,’you began it sometime in the summer? A Yes, 1
will say it was the summer.,
Q Now, we will :start with the 10th of July, 1916, On that
daf, how leng had you veen working in the uptown office, of
Mc Donald & Company? A That I can't say, that I can't romﬁihor,
unless th;y would know downtown, :
Q Well, relatively then, it was three months? A Yes,
Q About three or four monthe? A Yes,
Q During the timé you were working there, during those
three or four months, Mre., La, Touche was a daily customer, was

she not? A Yes, eir,

Q@ And she traded with you almost dailey? A Yes, sir,

Q And during that period of time, she made you payments of
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money, from time to time, did she not? A Yes,

Q Now, do you know under whose name that account was kept?

A If I recall rightly, Dow,
Q And also the Higgs Account? A Yes,
Q And any other account? A VWell,if I may say something.

She had accounts with the downtown office, and she traded in

Dow & Higgs, in those accounte, before she came up to me,

Q In other worde, she had several trading accounts, did she not
- A Yes,sir,

Q And do you know whether or not, from time to time, during
theqo tradings, she paid in mcney? A Yes, money or checks,

Q Are you able to say whether, on the 7th of July, she gave

you two hundred dollare on account of trading? A No, eir; I am not

Q Or on the 9th of July, did she give you ~ne hundred doilar.?
A No, sir, »

Q »But you do rerember -- and she was quite @ trader, quite
an activetrader, 1n'sma11 lots, wasn't she? A‘_Yeo. ‘

Q Now, after you left McDonald & Company -- when did you
leave them? A I should say about Sepfember 3rd,

Q of this year or last? A of this year.

Q And do you know whﬁthnr or not -~ do you kno"how long she
traded with McDconald & Compahy, arfer July 19161 A BNo, BShe left
my office uptown, I don't know whether she traded in the 6!!160
downtown after thst;

Q That was about August 1916; waen't 1t? A About, yes,
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Q Did you know what other concern she traded with after

that? A We,eir,

e Aﬁd, of course, during that time that she was trading
with you, you do know, do jou not, that she was quite a trader
in Colorado Fuel? A She has traded in many stocks. I can't
say any particular stocks,
Q Do you know thnﬁ ohiztrldod in that stock,to quite an
- extent? A ©She has tradedin it, I can't say in what quantities,
Q Did you,also, vhile you weré"orkihg'thore, oocation.lly‘
buy and sell a 1little stocks for yourself?
(Dbjected to, suetained; exception)
Q Well, what I am getting at is this. These small lots,
ten and twenty share lot-;'didn't you aom‘tln0l hold the trade
yourself }
MR, DONOHUE: I object to that, unlecs he means this
particular defendant's orders.
THE COURT: Held vhaf traijes?
¥R, MOORE: The trades with the customer, the room trader, 9

in emall lote,

it is shown to have been the defendant's trade.
THE COURT: I will allow it.

'BY MR, WOORE:

Q (Repeated?) 1ngtead of reporting it to the downtown offico?“i
A ¥Wo, eir; I didn't, And I don't see what good that would do.
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Unless I phoned the order, it is no order at all,
Q And then it would be what ie called a bucket shop, if you

kept 1t yourself? A Yes, of course,

Q And you know that to bucket decal ie againet th;'lal,'don't
you? A Yes,
Q And that's the reason why you eay jou didn't withhold those
trades? |
VR, DONOHUE: I object to that aes entirely 1-prppor, if
your Honor. |
‘ (Sustained; exception.)
Q Do you know whether or not Mre., La Touche,ever had any
commissions?
‘MR, DONOHUE: From whom?
A I do not, From whom?

BY MR, MOORE:

Q WNow, do you know whether she had any commissions, on these

sales or purchases from the firm?

MR, D9NOHUE: I object to that,

e ey b

THE COURT: Why should hie firm pay their own customer

commissione? ki

MR, MOORE: Because the woman was procuring clients for

them, as she called them; and she was etting, as we under-

i i S A A I

stand, from these various e¢liente-- not only was making
trades for them, but was ge‘ting & commission for bringing

them in, from the firm,

‘ q
BY THE COURT: o

Q Did she ever bring in any cliente?t A No, sir; she didn't.é



There were people,who made complaint,that she had taken their
money, but I regarded them always ae their own trades.
BY THE COURT:

Q Well, you would not recornize any of her clients, unless

they came in,and opened accounts? A No, eir.
MR, MOORE: But fhoy were her clients, your Honor.
Q You'knew that she was trading for other people, didn't yoﬁ?
A Yes, sir,
BY THE COURT:
Q You would not pay commissions on that trading; would you?‘
A To, eir; and I had no right to. I was only the sanager.
Q Did themain office do so? A FWo, eir; they didm't.
BY MR. MOORE: A
Q And the law forbids such a practise, doesn't it, paying
such. commissions, doesn't it?
(Objected to. Allowed)
A Yes,

Q Now, do you know whether 6r not,on every ten share trade,

she didn't get sixty-+wo cente commiseion, from your boupanj?'

A I wouldn't know that, because she was dealing with the company

before she came up to my office. -%
. BY MR, DONOHUE: w
| Q Did you ever pay her any commigsions for bringing anybody
there? A WNo, sir, A

Q Did you ever know of her receiving commissions from the

firem?

A WNo, eir.
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Q WNow, you say,that people complained about her. What was

that qompluint?

(Objected to. Sustained.)

 THE COURT: No, it was volunteered by him, and I will

not allow you to go 1nto that,
BY THE COURT:
Q Can you testify,that all deposite by her, eithér'of cash

or Fheck, you fowarded to the main office, and all orders that she
gave to you?_ A Yes, positively. |

'Q And eo,that,for any deposits, either of cash or check, in tﬁc
month of July == A She got a receipt from mé, lhd I phoned down
"to the main office, immediately, that she had paid me so much

money.

BY MR. DONOHUE:

Q And you gave her a receipt always? A Yes.
FY MR, MOORE:

Q Now, I show you People's exhibit 3, and ask you if you
ever eaw that check before? A No, 8ir; I didn't -- not th‘t I
recall, no; in rﬁct, I didn't see that check,

Q Do you recall whether or not this check was deposifeq at
your downtown office?

i (Objected to., Allowed) | 4

A Well, I will tell you this, if my name is on the bcok,elt f%
ws-‘dopouited in my bank, And that check wasn't deposited in fho .;

Colénial Bank, for Mr, Mc Donald.
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Q And that ie some mone; that she paid to them direetly,
and not to you? A Yee,sir,
Q And do she didn't always pay the money to you,

in her trades? A No. In that case, evidently, it must have

been paid downtown.
. MR, DONOHUE: Now, if your Honor please, may I recall
.- the bookkqeper?
THE COURT: Yes,

ROBERT J, HUMPHRE Y S, being recalled by the

District Aftorney, testified as follown;
DIRECT EXAVINATION BY VR. DONOHUE: .
.~ Q Humphrey, will you turn to the M.L. La Touche account,
in the ledger of W.A, Mc Donald & Company}? A Yes, sir,
Q And will you fead to me the entire account, beginning with
the day it was opened; and ending when it wae closed?
MR, MOORE: i object to that, upon the ground that it

is immaterial ,irrelevent and 1ncompetent, and’ho_propgr

foundation laid for it,
THE COURT: Yes, there is no proof that that i. the lng.;y
MR, DONOHUE: I thought I proved that;yoltcrdsy. ]
THE COURT: ©No, the book was no horo,,yeotofﬁsy.
BY MR, DONOHUE:
What ie your position with the firm of Mc Donald & Coupanytf
A Cashier and Manager, |
And have you charge of the books? A Yo-;nir.
And what books do you keep there? A Personally?

Well, what books are kept there? A The order books, th. é
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blotter, the ledger, the loan book, the cash books,

Q Any other books? A No, sir,

Q Are those the books under your supervision? A Yes,sir,

Q Now, will you tell me your system of bookkeeping, when ordems h

are received by your firm?

|
MR. MOORE: I object tothat, that was zone ovéri yestorday4
~THE COURT: Yes, I think he testified to that, yesterday. j
BY MR. DONOHUE: |
Q VFNow, have you prodqud; at my request, the ledger of
‘Mo Donald & Company? A Yes, sir,

Q And have you it with you now? A Yes,sir,

Q And is that the only ledger kept Sy Mc Donald & Conpany?

A Yes,sir,

Q And was that ledger kept underyour supervision,Ain the month
of July, 19167 A Yes, sir,
Q ﬁow, will you read the M,L, La Touche account?
MR, MOORE: I bbjeot to 1t, on the same grounds, if your

Honor please. There is no proper foundation laid fof the

receipt-of this evidence.

It appears in evidence now, that theorder was placeud
uptown, and it was poesibly, teiophdned to the downtown
officé, and there transferred to a blotter, if the order
vs.‘rooofded properly, and from there transferred to a lodgpi,i
and I insist under thosé circumstances, it is not conpet?nt 

or proper, and it is not a book of original Qntry, becausehe
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simply records, what is handed to him by somebody, and |

it ien't any proof that the transaction was or was not made

in the uptown office,.

THE COURT: Yes, 1 will sustain the objsction,
MR ,DONOHUE : Does your Honor hold that I must prove it
by the man who receives the telephone call?

THE COURT: Well,I do not see that it is necessary to

call him,
| MR. DONOHUE: Then we rest if your Honor please.
MR, MONRE: Now, if your Honor please, I renew my motion
for the direction of a verdiot of not guilty, on the ground

‘that the People have failed to makeout a case against the

defendant, in that they have failed to make out, beyond a
f

reasonable doubt, that the defendant is guilty of this
charge.
THE COURT: Motion denied.

MR, MOORE: There is no proof that the trade was not made,

But there is proof, that the money was lost, that she invested
it and made tiadea, and was *rading in Colorado Fuel & Iron ;
evéry day, according to the proof, | iz t

THECOURT:, There ies proof here,I think, or at least thc  |
jury may-find from the evidence, that there is proof, as to.” ?
what was done with the two hundred dollares, and that it w&l7‘%
not used for the purpose for which Mise.Fitzgerald paid it
over,

MR, MOORE: But,there is no proof here -- the proof is .

that the purchase of 30 shares of stock was made, prior tp
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the opening of this account, on the 10th of July, and in the -
letter to Mies Fitzgerald, the statement is made that the

stocks were purchased before the opening of the account,

and on the 10th of July, we have it, thie young lady gzave her
two hundred do) are,

THEWURT: No, the proof is tha® the two hundrad dollqic,
is the only dopocti she made in the month of Ju;y, and one .
.hundrod dollars later, I remember. ‘

MR, MOORE: I beg your Honor's pardon, becauss I tikod Nr,
Humphreys, if she iidn't iepoeit -- if he didn't deposit |
a hundred dollars on the 7th, and one hundred dollars also onm
the 9th,

THE COURT: Ivgskqd !}. Humphreys o-peoiglly, 1fvaho'

made any deposit in the month of July, excert the two hundred

dollars, and the one hundred dollars. ‘

MR, MOORE: Yes, but that was in the M.L. La Touche
account, _

THE COURT: But‘he eaid the other accounts had been 010l01i
Motion denied,

YR, MOBRE: And, to offset that, Caphan osis ah§ vase
trading every day, and, if she was trading every day, the
account could hardly be closed.

THE COURT: Motion denied.

MR, MOORE: Exception, The defeniant rests, your Bonor,§

4

THE COURT: Very well, go %o the Jury.

MR, MOORE: How much time can I have?



THE COURT: Any amounp you want.
THE SECOND JUROR: Is it too late to ask one of the
witnesses a few questions, Mr. Caphan? |
THE COURT: Is there ang objectidn?
MR, MOORE: Not any, your Honor.
MR, DONOHUE: None whatsoever, sir.
MORTIMER " CAPHAN, Dbeing recalled for examina-
tion by the second juror, testified as follows:
- BY THE SECOND JUROR: ' ]
0 Mr, Caphan, you testified that when you received and
order, you gzot something in writ ing, you gﬁt 1natructioﬁe fo: it.
A She signed a 1little blank, yes.
- Q A blénk? A Yes. ‘
Ani you kept that blank in your office? A I have quite
a number, yes.
Q Wers they numbered? A No.
2 -You had no means of knowing if one of those blanks was
lost? A VWell, after they are given a statement by the month,
or whatever it is, the blanks are not of any account any nqro/
because the statement fivea her the balanée.
Q But what syétem ai4d youhave in your dffioe for keeplng:
track of the orders that you received, what system, if any?
A I didn't have any sysytem at all, out side of their buying or
selling anything, The order would be reported to the’dovntbyn
office, and, if they wanted more margin at any time, they would

telephone up to me2 to get it from the customer.

()
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Q But what record had you to prove that you had executed

the orders according to inetructions? A Why, the slip. And

many orders came in over the telephone anyway. But, as a rule,
I would require them to sign slips, if I could, as many as I

could.

Q You didn't keep a book of the orders that you telephoned

downtown, as you telephoned them? A Yes, I kept them daily.

Q As you telephoned them down; you made a record of them?
A Yes, because I was getting a commission on my trades, and 80
- of course I would like.to know the total number of shares I did,
every day,_ '

Q In othervworde, you kept a consecutive record of the
orders that you phoned jowntown? A No; I kept a 8lip by.thov

month, because I waspaid only by the number of shares that I

receivéd, or were ordered.

But you kept no book of record in which each transaction
would be énterei in consecutive order? A No, eir.
BY THE COURT:

Well, how did you kmow the number of orders you tele-
phoned downtown? A VWell, tﬁe bookkeeper downtown had a record
of eﬁery order I gave.

Q You had your own bookkeepsr downtown? A No, sir; MNr,
Humphreye I am referring to.

And did you have anythinz to show in the settlement of

your commissions? A Well, if I had done fifty shares, I would
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look at the book vhen I went downtown at night, and would verify
that entry,

BY MR, DONOHUE:
i

: to every customer
O But you gave a receipt/who gave you money or checks?

A Yes,

BY THE FOREMAN:

\ (]

Is it customary, when these customers traie, to uee dif-
ferent names? Is thaf a custom among brokers? A Well, I haven't
gbt.full‘knowlelge, because I was formerly in the theatrical
business.

Q But 4id that happen very oftenin your 1ine? A Yes.
Different cuetomers didn't vant *heir wives or others to knmow it.
It was a custom, of course, but I don't kﬁov wvhether it was a

habit or not.

THE COURT: That is all., Go tothe jury.

(Mr. Moore summed up for the defense, and Mr. Donohue

closed the case for the People,)

¥R, MOORE: If yoﬁr Honor please, I juet no ticed for
the firet time that the receipt was dated July 7th, and
the svidence is that it was given on the 10th of July.

"HY COURT: The svidence is that it was given on what
day? |

MR. MOORE: On July 10th, the same day that the young

lady went over with the cheok,

THE COURT: Very well, The jury will recall,




MR, DONOHUE: No. The evidence is that it was
given on the 8th, Saturday, the 8th.

MR. MOORE: Let me see the check. Saturday afternoon,
the 10th.

THE COURT: You say the check was given on the 10th?

MR, MOORE: My recollection ie that she took it over
on Saturday, the 10th. I

THE COURT: The indictment charges the 8th.

YR, MOORE: Well, my recollection may be at fault,
but I think it was given on ﬁhe 8th, and the check was pald
on the 10th, | |

MR, DONOHUE: Oh, yes; that is different. That may
be so,‘that it was givén to the deféndant on thé 8th, and
paid on the 10th. It probablytook several days to 2o

through.
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